SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SEP 24 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S248105

v.

YAZAN ALEDAMAT,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B282911 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA451225 The Honorable Stephen A. Marcus, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is an error in instructing the jury on both a legally correct theory of guilt and a legally incorrect one harmless if an examination of the record permits a reviewing court to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the valid theory, or is the error harmless only if the record affirmatively demonstrates that the jury actually rested its verdict on the legally correct theory?
- 2. Could the jury, in this case, have concluded that defendant used an inherently deadly weapon in committing the assault without also concluding that defendant used a weapon in a manner that presents a risk of death or great bodily injury?

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal below held that where there is error in offering the jury both a valid and an invalid theory of conviction—so-called "alternative-legal-theory error"—the judgment must be reversed unless the record shows that the jury necessarily relied on the valid theory. It concluded that this rule of near-automatic reversal, derived from *People v*. *Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, controls even though the error would "certainly" not be reversible under ordinary harmlessness review. But the *Green* rule is only one way a court may determine that alternative-legal-theory error is harmless. Using *Green* as the exclusive test is incompatible with more recent decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court.

To forestall further decisions like the one below, this Court should now clarify that the ordinary harmlessness standard of *Chapman v*. *California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 22-23, governs alternative-legal-theory error. Under that standard, a court may affirm if it concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. There is no persuasive reason why any higher standard should apply in these

circumstances. Nothing about the nature of the error calls for a different or more demanding standard than *Chapman*, which applies to a variety of similar instructional errors. Nor does our state Constitution independently require any more stringent standard of reversibility. The use of *Chapman* in this context would also advance the proper role of appellate review by preserving judgments where, as here, the error could not have affected the outcome of the trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant Yazan Aledamat was tried in the Los Angeles County Superior Court for assault with a deadly weapon (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)) and making a criminal threat (Pen. Code, § 422, subd. (a)), with an enhancement allegation as to the threat charge that he had used a deadly and dangerous weapon (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (b)(1)). (CT 20-24, 47-48.) The evidence showed that Aledamat frequented a food truck where Yuridia Gonzalez and her husband, Francisco Bautista, worked. (RT 326-329, 331-332, 334, 336.) Aledamat sometimes commented on Gonzalez's attractiveness, and had asked for her phone number, but Gonzalez had rebuffed him. (RT 327-329.) On a day when Gonzalez was absent but Bautista was working, Aledamat made provocative comments about Gonzalez. (RT 334, 336-339, 346-347, 350-352, 383.) Bautista took off his apron and turned around to face Aledamat. (RT 352-353.) In response, Aledamat pulled out a box cutter with its blade exposed, thrust it toward Bautista, and said "I'm going to kill you." (RT 339-344, 353-354, 360, 381-382, 384.) Police officers arrived and saw Aledamat holding the boxcutter out toward Bautista. (RT 343-344, 354, 359, 366-368, 371, 373-377, 380.) Aledamat put the box cutter in his pocket; the officers arrested him and recovered the weapon. (RT 368, 371-372.)

After the close of evidence, the court read the jury the standard CALCRIM instructions on, among other things, the elements of the assault charge:

To prove that the defendant is guilty of this crime, the People must prove that:

The defendant did an act with a deadly weapon other than a firearm, that by its nature would directly and probably result in the application of force to sa[id] person;

The defendant did that act willfully;

When the defendant acted, he was aware of the facts that would lead a reasonable person to realize that his act by its nature would directly and probably result in the application of force to someone, and

When the defendant acted, he had the present ability to apply force with a deadly weapon other than a firearm to a person.

(RT 632-633; see CT 58; CALCRIM No. 875.)

The court then read several elaborating instructions, including instructions defining the term "deadly weapon":

A deadly weapon other than a firearm is any object, instrument, or weapon that is inherently deadly or one that is used in such a way that it is capable of causing and likely to cause death or ... great bodily injury.

. . .

Great bodily injury means significant or substantial physical injury. It is an injury that is greater than minor or moderate harm.

(RT 634-635; see CT 58; CALCRIM No. 875.)

The court also read the jury the standard instruction on the weapon enhancement allegation:

If you find the defendant guilty of the crimes charged in counts 1 and 2, you must then decide whether for each crime the People have proved the additional allegation that the defendant

personally used a deadly or dangerous weapon during the commission of that crime.

. . .

A deadly or dangerous weapon is any object, instrument, or weapon that is inherently dangerous ... or one that is used in such a way that it is capable of causing or likely to cause death or great bod[il]y injury.

In deciding whether an object is a deadly weapon, consider all of the surrounding circumstances including when and where the object was possessed and any other evidence that indicates whether the object would be used for a dangerous rather than a harmless purpose.

"Great bodily injury" means significant or substantial physical injury. It is an injury that is greater than minor or moderate harm.

Someone personally uses a deadly or dangerous weapon if he or she intentionally ... displays the weapon in a menacing manner.

(RT 637-638; see CT 59-60; CALCRIM No. 3145.)

Aledamat's counsel defended against the assault charge by arguing that there was at least reasonable doubt that his act of wielding the box cutter probably would have resulted in the application of force; counsel did not contest that the box cutter itself qualified as a deadly weapon. (RT 643-649.) As to the threats charge, defense counsel argued that reasonable doubt existed about whether Aledamat actually made the threat and whether Bautista was in sustained fear as the result of any threat. (RT 649-659.)

The jury convicted Aledamat of both charges and found the enhancement allegation true. (RT 682-683; CT 64-69.) Aledamat admitted that he had previously been convicted of robbery (see Pen. Code, §§ 667, subd. (a)(1), 667 subds. (b)-(f)), and the court sentenced him to 11 years in state prison (RT 672-676, 904; CT 67, 75-79).

On appeal, Aledamat claimed that the standard instructions as to the assault charge and the weapon-use allegation gave rise to alternative-legaltheory error. The Court of Appeal agreed. (Opn. 4-5.) A "deadly weapon" for purposes of Penal Code section 245 is "any object, instrument, or weapon which is used in such a manner as to be capable of producing and likely to produce, death or great bodily injury." (People v. Aguilar (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023, 1028-1029.) And an "inherently deadly weapon" is simply an object—such as a gun, dirk, or blackjack—that is deadly to others in the "ordinary use" for which it is designed. (Id. at p. 1029.) A box cutter, as a matter of law, is not inherently deadly. (People v. McCoy (1944) 25 Cal.2d 177, 188.) Because the instructions permitted the jury to conclude that the box cutter was a deadly weapon if it was "inherently deadly," and no other definition of that term was provided (RT 634-635; see CT 58; CALCRIM No. 875; see also RT 637-638; CT 59-60; CALCRIM No. 3145), the Court of Appeal concluded that the jury was permitted to reach its verdict on the basis of either a legally valid theory or a legally invalid theory (see opn. 4-5; see also People v. Nelson (2016) 1 Cal.5th 513, 546-547 [instructional language is erroneous if it is reasonably likely to have misled the jury).

Relying on *People v. Guiton* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, 1129, the Court of Appeal held that reversal was required because alternative-legal-theory error can be deemed harmless only if the record shows that the jury actually and necessarily relied on the legally valid theory, a showing not supported by the record here. (Opn. 5-6.) The Court of Appeal observed, however, that "the rules regarding prejudice that we apply in this case are arguably in tension with more recent cases, such as *People v. Merritt* (2017) 2 Cal. 5th 819." (Opn. 6.) And it concluded that an ordinary harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard "would certainly be satisfied here" since it was uncontested and shown by overwhelming evidence that the box cutter

qualified as a deadly weapon. (Opn. 6-7.) But it determined that any reconsideration of the proper standard "is for our Supreme Court, not us." (Opn. 7.)

ARGUMENT

I. ALTERNATIVE-LEGAL-THEORY ERROR IS SUBJECT TO THE ORDINARY CHAPMAN STANDARD OF HARMLESS-ERROR REVIEW

The Court of Appeal below properly concluded that there was alternative-legal-theory error here, since the jury was given both a valid and an invalid path to conviction. (Opn. 4-5; ante, p. 8; see People v. Brown (2012) 210 Cal. App. 4th 1, 11 [CALCRIM No. 875 presents jury with alternative-legal-theory error].) The rule of near-automatic reversal that the court followed, however, should not apply in these circumstances. Had the trial court erroneously instructed the jury only that the box-cutter was an inherently deadly weapon, it is beyond dispute that the error would have been reviewable for harmlessness under the ordinary *Chapman* standard. (People v. Brooks (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1, 69-70 [misdescription of an element of the offense subject to harmless-error review under *Chapman*].) But because the trial court also instructed the jury with the correct definition of "deadly weapon," the Court of Appeal used a more stringent harmless-error test. As the Court of Appeal observed, this approach is "arguably in tension with more recent cases." (Opn. 6.) In fact, the harmlessness standard applied by the Court of Appeal is incompatible with modern harmless-error decisions, which compel application of the ordinary Chapman standard.

A. The Origins of the *Green* Rule and Its Application to Alternative-Legal-Theory Error

The standard of reversal used by the Court of Appeal originates with *People v. Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1. In *Green*, this Court held that "when

the prosecution presents its case to the jury on alternate theories, some of which are legally correct and others legally incorrect, and the reviewing court cannot determine from the record on which theory the ensuing general verdict of guilt rested, the conviction cannot stand." (*Id.* at p. 69.)

Several years later, in People v. Guiton (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, the Court re-evaluated that rule in light of the United States Supreme Court's intervening decision in Griffin v. United States (1991) 502 U.S. 46. Griffin held that, where alternative theories of conviction have been presented to the jury, a general verdict will not be set aside on grounds of factual insufficiency if there is at least one factual theory supported by the record. (Griffin, supra, 502 U.S. at pp. 56-57.) While acknowledging that the Griffin rule did not bind the States, this Court in Guiton concluded that the rule "makes good sense." (Guiton, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1129.) It held that, for purposes of California law, when an alternative theory of guilt is factually deficient, as opposed to legally invalid, reversal is not required unless the record affirmatively shows that the jury relied on the factually unsupported theory. (Ibid.) The Court went on to observe that it was not called upon to "decide the exact standard of review of cases governed by Green," i.e., cases in which the alternative theory is legally invalid. (Id. at p. 1130.) But it noted that "one way" of assessing harmlessness in that situation is to "determine from other portions of the verdict that the jury necessarily found the defendant guilty on a proper theory." (Ibid.) The Court concluded that there "may be additional ways by which a court can determine that error in the *Green* situation is harmless. We leave the question to future cases." (*Id.* at p. 1131.)

Subsequent decisions of this Court have not squarely addressed or settled the open question recognized in *Guiton*. Some 15 years after that case was decided, Justice Baxter emphasized that *Guiton*'s approach was only one way to determine harmlessness in cases of alternative-legal-theory

error and that the Court had "never intimated that this was the only way to do so." (*People v. Cross* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 58, 70 (conc. opn. of Baxter, J.).) He posited that the ordinary harmless-error standard of *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, should apply. (*Cross, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 70-71 (conc. opn. of Baxter, J.).) That standard differs markedly from the one described in *Green* and *Guiton*. Under the *Chapman* standard, which applies to most federal constitutional errors, including most instructional errors, a reviewing court must undertake "a thorough examination of the record" to determine whether it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." (*Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 18, 19.) For example, *Chapman* permits affirmance where an element of the offense has been omitted from the instructions if "the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence." (*Id.* at p. 17; accord, *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 410.)

Shortly after Justice Baxter made those observations, the Court acknowledged the still-open question in *People v. Chun* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172, but again declined to resolve it. It instead concluded that the alternative-legal-theory error in that case could be deemed harmless by asking whether "other aspects of the verdict or evidence leave no reasonable doubt that the jury made the findings necessary" to support the valid theory. (*Id.* at pp. 1204-1205.) The Court noted that it used that test "without holding that this is the only way to find error harmless." (*Ibid.*)

This Court's more recent decisions, while not directly taking on the unresolved issue, suggest that a harmlessness standard broader than the *Green* rule may apply to alternative-legal-theory error. In *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, the Court said that a conviction "must be reversed unless we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the legally valid theory." (*Id.* at p. 167, citing *Chun*, *supra*, 45

Cal.4th at pp. 1201, 1203-1205.) In applying that standard, the Court did not limit its inquiry to "portions of the verdict" alone but determined that, in light of the jury's questions during deliberations, "we cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury ultimately based its first degree murder verdict on ... the legally valid theory" (*Chiu, supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 167-168.) Similarly, in *In re Martinez* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1216, the Court recited "the *Chiu* prejudice standard" that governs alternative-legal-theory error but did not expressly grapple with the scope of the harmlessness inquiry. (*Id.* at pp. 1225, 1226.) In applying the standard, the Court reviewed the record in the case, including the evidence presented to the jury and the jury's questions during deliberations, before concluding that that review did not "show beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury relied on a legally valid theory." (*Id.* at pp. 1226-1227.)¹

Lower courts have taken different approaches to harmless-error review in this situation. The Court of Appeal below, for example, believed that it was not permitted to affirm unless the record established that the jury necessarily relied on the valid theory. The court therefore reversed, even though it would have concluded that the error was harmless under an ordinary *Chapman* test, since the evidence in support of the valid theory was uncontested and overwhelming. (Opn. 6-7.) Likewise, in *People v. Sanchez* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 970, the court reversed for alternative-

¹ The central issue in *Martinez* was whether a more relaxed harmlessness standard should apply to alternative-legal-theory error on collateral review. (See *Martinez*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1221.) The Court rejected that proposition and instead applied the standard articulated in *Chiu*. (*Id*. at 1225.) In the briefs, the People had argued, among other things, that it would be appropriate to review the entire record in determining prejudice, but that argument did not draw comment other than the observation that "[t]he Attorney General's position, like the Court of Appeal's, is based on its review of the evidence." (*Id*. at p. 1226.)

legal-theory error, despite "overwhelming evidence" in support of the legally valid theory. (*Id.* at p. 981.) It did so because "there simply is no legitimate basis in the record" to conclude that the verdict was necessarily based on the legally correct theory and it was "conceivable" that the jury might have relied on the incorrect theory. (*Ibid.*) On the other hand, the Court of Appeal in *Brown*, *supra*, 210 Cal.App.4th 1, affirmed despite alternative-legal-theory error, reasoning that the "ample evidence" produced at trial in favor of the valid theory, along with the arguments of counsel, left no reasonable doubt that the jury found the defendant guilty on the valid theory. (*Id.* at p. 13.)

This Court should now clarify whatever lingering ambiguity produced these disparate results. The ultimate inquiry in this context should be no different from the *Chapman* harmless-error standard customarily applied to instructional error affecting the elements of an offense. Under that standard, a reviewing court may affirm if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, even if the record does not show that the jury necessarily relied on the valid theory.

B. This Court and the United States Supreme Court Have Retreated from Rigid Harmlessness Standards Such as the *Green* Rule

The *Green* rule is a conspicuous outlier when it comes to assessing the harmlessness of an instructional error. Since *Green* and *Guiton* were decided, this Court and the United States Supreme Court have addressed the proper harmlessness standard to be applied in various instructional contexts and have consistently rejected such rules of automatic or near-automatic reversal.

In *People v. Harris* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 407, for example, this Court decided that instructional error in misdescribing the "immediate presence" aspect of robbery is not subject to the standard of reversibility set forth in

Green. (Id. at pp. 416-419.) Instead, the Court concluded, it is governed by "the harmless error test traditionally applied to misinstruction on the elements of an offense, namely, whether it appears 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (Id. at pp. 425, quoting Chapman, supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24.) The Court noted that, when it decided Green, it did not have the benefit of subsequent United States Supreme Court authority applying Chapman to similar instructional error. (Ibid., discussing Yates v. Evatt (1991) 500 U.S. 391.)

In People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, this Court re-examined the proper harmlessness standard to be applied to the erroneous omission of an element of the offense from the jury instructions. The Court observed that state and federal jurisprudence on the subject had been evolving for some decades. (Id. at pp. 480, 492.) In light of that evolution, it rejected the existing state-law rule, which required automatic reversal subject to various exceptions, such as one that, like the *Green* standard, permitted affirmance where the jury necessarily resolved the omitted question under other. proper instructions. (Id. at pp. 479-490.) The Court declined to perpetuate "an ostensible reversible-per-se rule that is riddled with exceptions meant to delineate circumstances in which such instructional error categorically may be deemed harmless." (Id. at p. 490.) It observed that such a rule "is fundamentally inconsistent with the language and purpose of the specific California constitutional harmless error provision." (*Ibid.*) And the Court held that "the prejudicial effect of such error is to be determined, for purposes of California law, under the generally applicable prejudicial error test embodied in article VI, section 13." (Ibid.)

Having determined that such error is not automatically reversible under California law, the *Flood* Court went on to hold that, for purposes of federal law, the *Chapman* standard controls. (*Flood*, *supra*, 18 Cal.4th at

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