IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

•	SUPREME COURT FILED
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) NOV 2 1 2018
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Jorge Navarrete Clerk
V.) Deputy
YAZAN ALEDAMAT) Case No. S248105
Defendant and Appellant.)
)
)
)

Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B282911 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA451225 The Honorable Stephen A. Marcus, Judge

DEFNDANT/APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Andrea S. Bitar, Esq., SBN 199284 Bird Rock Law Group, A.P.C. 5580 La Jolla Blvd., #456 La Jolla, CA 92037 andreabitar@birdrocklaw.com 619-356-1624 (phone)/484-698-5302 (fax)

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

1. THE HISTORY AND PROGRESSION OF EVALUATING ALTERNATIVE LEGAL THEORY ERROR CASES IN CALIFORNIA.

1.1. People v. Green

Most discussions of the modern alternative legal theory harmless error standard begin with this Court's opinion in *People v. Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1. In *Green*, the defendant was convicted of murder, robbery, and kidnapping. (*Id.* at p. 12.) The kidnapping charge was divided factually into three segments. (*Id.* at pp. 62-63.) This Court found that two of the three segments were legally insufficient to qualify as kidnapping. (*Id.* at p. 67.)

Because the *Green* prosecutor had argued alternative legal theories, one of which was insufficient to establish a kidnapping, the Court reversed. "[W]hen the prosecution presents its case to the jury on alternate theories, some of which are legally correct and others legally incorrect, and the

reviewing court cannot determine from the record on which theory the ensuing general verdict of guilt rested, the conviction cannot stand."

(Green, supra, 27 Cal.3d at p. 69.) The legal principle that emerged from Green was that it was critical for a reviewing court to determine the jury's actual decision from the evidence in the record, and to avoid hypothesizing regarding upon what legal theory the jury might have relied. Without such evidence, an alternative legal theory error must be deemed presumptively prejudicial.

A special circumstance finding by a jury, for example, might provide a very high level of confidence that the jury did not actually rely upon an erroneous legal theory, and thus allow the presumption of prejudice to be overcome. In People v. Boyd (1985) 38 Cal.3d 762, this Court found that the presumption of prejudice could be overcome because the jury both found defendant guilty of attempted robbery and made a special circumstance finding that defendant committed murder during the commission of an attempted robbery, this Court was thus confident the jury did not rely upon an erroneous premeditation instruction. (Boyd, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 770.) And in *People v. Kelly* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 495, an alternative legal theory error was deemed harmless where the defendant was convicted of murder, and while the jury was erroneously given a robbery-felony murder jury instruction, the jury also found a rape-murder special circumstance to be true. (Kelly, 1 Cal.4th at p. 531.) Contrast these decisions with the case of *People v. Guerra* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 377, where a jury was instructed on both premeditated murder and felony murder, but because there was no evidence in the record indicating which theory the jury followed, the Court held that "[t]here is no principled way for us to determine which theory the jury adopted ... therefore, we cannot conclude

that the jury *necessarily* found intent to kill under the instructions...." (*Guerra*, *supra*, 40 Cal.3d at pp. 387-388.)

Thus, when applying *Green*, this Court implemented the same application of the *Chapman* harmless error test that is in place today: it determined that an error was presumptively prejudicial, unless the evidence in the record affirmatively demonstrated that the jury did not rely upon an invalid legal theory in convicting the defendant.

1.2. People v. Guiton

In *People v. Guiton* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, this Court addressed a perceived conflict between the *Green* standard and the standard articulated in the United States Supreme Court case of *Griffin v. United States* (1991) 502 U.S. 46 [112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371]. In *Griffin*, Justice Scalia differentiated between cases where a jury verdict could be based on one correct and one incorrect legal theory, and where a jury verdict could be sustained based on correct or incorrect facts:

Jurors are not generally equipped to determine whether a particular theory of conviction submitted to them is contrary to law -- whether, for example, the action in question is protected by the Constitution, is time barred, or fails to come within the statutory definition of the crime. When, therefore, jurors have been left the option of relying upon a legally inadequate theory, there is no reason to think that their own intelligence and expertise will save them from that error. Quite the opposite is true, however, when they have been left the option of relying upon a factually inadequate theory, since jurors *are* well equipped to analyze the evidence....

(Id. at p. 59.)

This Court concluded in *Guiton* that the *Green* and *Griffin* standards could be harmonized. "The *Green* rule" could be "readily construed as

coming within the ... category of a 'legally inadequate theory' generally requiring reversal." (*Guiton*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1128.)

The *Guiton* court explained, as an illustration, how the *Griffin* standard would have worked under the facts in *Green*, which (as a reminder) involved the issue of whether forcibly moving a person 90 feet could legally qualify as kidnapping:

[A] jury would be well equipped to analyze the evidence and determine whether the victim had been asported, and to determine the distance of the asportation. The jury would, however, not be equipped to determine whether, as a matter of *law*, 90 feet is insufficient.

(Guiton, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1128.) After applying Justice Scalia's theory for legal versus factual alternative legal theory error, the Guiton court articulated the error standard, once such an error was found:

But if the inadequacy is legal, not merely factual, that is, when the facts do not state a crime under the applicable statute, as in *Green*, the *Green* rule requiring reversal applies, absent a basis in the record to find that the verdict was actually based on a valid ground.

(Guiton, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1129.) Here, again, this Court focused on (1) the inability of a jury to choose between valid and invalid legal theories, (2) as assumption that the defendant was prejudiced, and (3) the necessity for the reviewing court to examine the actual decision of the jury when determining if reversal was appropriate.

1.3. Further Decisions By This Court Since Guiton, Especially People v. Martinez, Reaffirm A Harmless Error Standard That Assumes Prejudice From Alternative Legal Theory Error, And Only Finds Such An Error Harmless If The Evidentiary Record Supports A Finding That The Jury Actually Relied Upon A Legally Correct Theory, Rather Than The Hypothetical "Reasonable Jury" Standard Advocated By The Respondent.

In the years since *Guiton*, this Court has continued to uphold an application of the *Green/Guiton* doctrine that assumes prejudice, and focuses on looking to the specific facts each jury found in a particular case when evaluating whether an alternative legal theory error can be deemed harmless. Beginning with *People v. Chun* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172, followed by *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, and most recently in *People v. Martinez* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1216, this Court has been consistent in its approach.

In *Chun*, this Court evaluated the effect of the trial court's error instructing the jury properly on second-degree murder, but erroneously on felony murder. (*Chun*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1201.) *Chun* confirmed that the *Guiton* test was appropriate: "In this situation, to find the error harmless, a reviewing court must conclude, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the jury based its verdict on a legally valid theory...." (*Id.* at p. 1203.) *Chun* also approvingly pointed to a standard articulated in a concurring opinion by Justice Scalia in *California v. Roy* (1996) 519 U.S. 2 [136 L. Ed. 2d 266, 117 S. Ct. 337], which emphasized evaluating error by looking to the specific decision of the jury, based on evidence in the record in a particular case: "The error in the present case can be harmless only if the jury verdict on other points effectively embraces this one or if it is impossible, upon the evidence, to have found what the verdict *did* find without finding this point

as well." (*Chun, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1204, quoting *Roy, supra*, 519 U.S. at p. 7, Scalia, J., concurring.)

Similarly, in *Chiu*, this Court reviewed a case in which a jury found the defendant guilty of premeditated murder. (*Chiu, supra,* 59 Cal.4th at p. 158.) Two alternative legal theories were provided to the jury: either direct aiding and abetting liability, or vicarious aiding and abetting liability under the "natural and probable consequences" doctrine. (*Id.*) *Chiu* held that a defendant could not be liable for premeditated murder under the natural and probable consequences theory. (*Id.* at p. 167.) As a result, the *Chiu* jury had been instructed on one valid legal theory and one invalid legal theory. (*Id.*)

Chiu reaffirmed the principles of Green and Guiton, especially the focus both cases had on reversal unless the record demonstrated the jury actually relied on a valid legal theory. Chiu specifically held that "[w]hen a trial court instructs a jury on two theories of guilt, one of which was legally correct and one legally incorrect, reversal is required unless there is a basis in the record to find that the verdict was based on a valid ground." (Chiu, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.) Chiu did attach a specific evidentiary measure of certainty to the harmless error determination, mandating that the "[d]efendant's first degree murder conviction must be reversed unless we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the legally valid theory that defendant directly aided and abetted the premeditated murder." (Chiu, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.) Chiu, however, still explicitly relied upon a determination of what the particular jury actually decided in its harmless error assessment.

Finally, and most recently, in *Martinez*, this Court again affirmed its commitment to analyzing the evidence in the record to determine what legal theory the jury relied upon. In *Martinez*, the Court addressed whether

alternative legal theory error should be evaluated differently in the habeas context. (*Martinez, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1218.) The *Martinez* court directly affirmed the *Green/Guiton* standard as applied in *Chiu*, and explained why the presumption of prejudice was critical, unless the evidentiary record demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury had relied upon the correct legal theory:

[Martinez] contends the jury was improperly instructed on what constitutes aiding and abetting a first degree murder. Such an erroneous instruction deprives a defendant of the right to a jury trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution; that right implies a right to a jury properly instructed in the relevant law. (See Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 12 [144 L. Ed. 2d 35, 119 S. Ct. 1827].) A petitioner in these circumstances does not carry the burden of demonstrating that his conviction was based on insufficient evidence. Rather, once he has shown that the jury was instructed on correct and incorrect theories of liability, the presumption is that the error affected the judgment.... Of course, the presumption of error can be rebutted by a showing "beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the legally valid theory." (Chiu, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.)

(Martinez, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1224.)

This Court's standard has remained consistent, and was clearly articulated just last year in *Martinez*: in determining whether an alternative legal theory error was harmless, a reviewing court must assume prejudice unless it can ascertain, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the jury actually relied upon a valid legal theory. This means that the reviewing court is not positing what a jury might have relied upon, or what evidence in the record the jury could have found convincing. This Court's standard – from *Green* and *Guiton* up through *Chiu* and *Martinez* -- requires the reviewing court to look for evidence in the record supporting the decision the jury actually made. It is not a prediction of what the jury might have done, were it

properly instructed. It is an evidence-based conclusion of what the jury actually did. Without such evidence, prejudice is presumed.

1.4. Neder v. United States And People v. Merritt

The Court of Appeal in this case, below, felt that the harmless error standard in the recent case of *People v. Merritt* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 819 was at odds with this Court's opinions in *Green* and *Guiton*. (Opinion at p. 6.) The *Merritt* opinion, in turn, was strongly influenced by the United States Supreme Court decision of *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 112 and its application of *Chapman* harmless error review.

Neder was not a case of alternative legal theory error, with a jury forced to choose between a valid and an invalid statement of the law. Rather, in Neder, an element of the offense at issue was omitted; the question was whether such an error was susceptible to harmless error review at all. (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 4.) Neder held that such an error was subject to Chapman review, and that the appropriate test was "whether it appears 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.'" (Id. at p. 15, quoting Chapman, supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24.) The error should not be deemed harmless if "the defendant contested the omitted element and raised evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding...." (Id. at p. 19.)

The application of *Chapman* error review in *Neder* or similar cases, however, differs significantly from the type of error at issue here. Here, the jury made an actual decision, based on either the valid or invalid legal theory presented to it. A reviewing court in a case of alternative legal theory error looks at the evidence in the record and attempts to determine

upon which theory the jury actually relied. The reviewing court is deducing what the jury did, but it is moving in the world of the jury's actual decision.

In a case like *Neder*, however, a reviewing court must operate in the realm of the hypothetical—what might have happened had the error not been made. The *Neder* jury made a decision based on the erroneous omission of an element of the offense. *Neder* looked to the evidence presented and hypothesized whether a reasonable jury would have made the same decision absent the error:

In this situation, where a reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error, the erroneous instruction is properly found to be harmless.

(Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 17.)

Merritt also did not analyze alternative legal theory error, but rather, similar to Neder, a failure by the trial court to instruct on the elements of the crime at issue. (Merritt, supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 824.) Merritt framed the issue as "whether error in failing to instruct on the elements of robbery is amenable to harmless error analysis and, if so, whether the error was harmless in this case." (Id. at p. 825.) Merritt held that failing to instruct on elements of the crime at issue was not reversible per se, but subject to harmless error analysis. (Id. at p. 829.)

Because *Merritt* was analyzing a failure to properly instruct the jury on elements of the crime, just as *Neder* did, it makes sense that *Merritt* would use *Neder*'s application of *Chapman* harmless error review, which poses the question of prejudice in the hypothetical: "whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have rendered the same verdict absent the error." To reach such a conclusion, *Merritt* adopted

Neder's requirement that the supporting evidence be "overwhelming and uncontroverted." (*Merritt, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at p. 832.)

The application of the *Chapman* harmless error test in such a context is arguably more stringent than the *Green* and *Guiton* doctrine applicable in cases of alternative legal theory error, and with good reason. If a reviewing court is hypothesizing what might have happened had no error been committed, rather than discerning what a jury actually did, the standard should be quite high. But this type of *Chapman* harmless error is simply not applicable in cases of alternative legal theory error. As this Court has repeatedly recognized over many years—from *Green* to *Guiton* to *Chiu* to *Martinez*—if an actual jury decision occurred, evaluating the prejudice from an error critically depends on discerning that decision.

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